
 

 
 

Agenda 

 

Page 1 

Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
 

Time and Date 
9.30 am on Tuesday, 13th June, 2023 
 
Place 
Diamond Rooms 1 and 2 - Council House 
 

 

 
 
Public Business 
 
1. Apologies   

 
2. Declarations of Interest   

 
3. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 10) 
 

 To agree the minutes of the Committee meeting held on 28 March 2023 and 
the Sub-Committee hearings held on 27 March 2023 and 29 March 2023. 
 

4. Exclusion of Press and Public   
 

 To consider whether to exclude the press and public for the items of private 
business for the reasons shown in the reports. 
 

5. Outstanding Issues Report   
 

 There are no outstanding issues to report. 
 

6. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved   
 

Private Business 
 
7. Applications for the Grant/Suitability to hold Hackney Carriage & Private 

Hire Drivers' Licences   
 

 Reports of the Chief Legal Officer on the following: 
(Listing Officer: Mick Coggins, Email: mick.coggins@coventry.gov.uk   
 

 7.1 Application for the Grant of a Private Hire Driver's License (Pages 11 - 
16) 

 

 7.2 Application for the Grant of a Private Hire Driver's Licence (Pages 17 - 
28) 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:mick.coggins@coventry.gov.uk


Page 2 

 7.3 Application for the Grant of a Hackney Carriage Driver's Licence 
(Pages 29 - 42) 

 

8. Any other items of private business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved   
 

 

Julie Newman, Chief Legal Officer, Council House, Coventry 
 
Monday, 5 June 2023 
 
Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Usha Patel/Thomas Robinson 
usha.patel@coventry.gov.uk/thomas.robinson@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 
Membership: Councillors F Abbott (Chair), B Gittins (Deputy Chair), S Gray, G Hayre, 
A Hopkins, J Innes, T Jandu, S Keough, R Lakha, R Lancaster, J Lepoidevin, 
A Masih, R Thay and CE Thomas 
 
 
Public Access  
Any member of the public who would like to attend the meeting in person is 
encouraged to contact the officer below in advance of the meeting regarding 
arrangements for public attendance. A guide to attending public meeting can be found 
here: https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings 
 
 

Usha Patel/Thomas Robinson  
usha.patel@coventry.gov.uk/thomas.robinson@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings


 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Licensing and Regulatory Committee held at 9.30 am 

on Tuesday, 28 March 2023 
 

Present:  

Members: Councillor L Bigham(Chair for the Meeting) 

 Councillor L Bigham 
Councillor J Clifford 
Councillor G Hayre 
Councillor T Jandu 
Councillor S Keough 
Councillor R Lakha 
Councillor A Masih 
Councillor R Thay 
 

 
Employees:  

Law and Governance: 
 
Regulatory Services: 

S Ahmed, T Robinson, C Sinclair  
 
M Coggins, S Yarker  

 
 
Apologies: 

 
 
Councillor F Abbott, J Birdi, B Gittins, A Hopkins, J Innes and 
CE Thomas  
 

 
Public Business 
 
56. Declarations of Interest  

 
There were no declarations of interest.  
 

57. Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the Committee meeting held on 24 January 2023 were signed as a 
true record. 
 

58. Exclusion of Press and Public  
 
RESOLVED that, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the items of business indicated 
below on the grounds that those items involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information, as defined in Schedule 12A of that Act, in particular 
those paragraphs of Part 1 of the Schedule as indicated:  
 

Minute No. Subject Relevant paragraphs 
of Part 1of Schedule 

12A 

61 Application for Grant of 
a Private Hire Driver’s 
Licence 

1 & 3 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

 
– 2 – 

 

61 Review of a Hackney 
Carriage Driver’s 
Licence 

1 & 3 

 
59. Outstanding Issues Report  

 
There were no outstanding issues.  
 

60. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved  

 
There were no other items of public business. 
 

61. Applications for the Grant/Suitability to hold Hackney Carriage & Private Hire 
Drivers' Licences  

 
RESOLVED that, having considered the circumstances set out in the report 
of the Director of Street Scene and Regulatory Services now submitted,  
 

(a) The application for the grant of a Private Hire Driver’s Licence be 
granted. 
 

(Note: The Applicant and his legal representative attended the meeting in 
support of his case). 
 
(b) The Hackney Carriage Driver’s Licence having been reviewed, be 

revoked.  

(Note: The Applicant, with the assistance of an interpreter, attended the 
meeting in support of his case). 

 
 

62. Any other items of private business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved  

 
There were no other items of private business.  
 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 12.00 pm)  

  

Page 2



 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Licensing and Regulatory Sub-Committee (Hearing) 

held at 10.00 am on Monday, 27 March 2023 
 

Present:  

Members: Councillor L Bigham (Chair) 

 Councillor G Hayre 
Councillor S Keough  
 

Other Members: Councillors R Bailey and R Brown (Cheylesmore Ward 
Councillors) 

 
Employees Present:  

Law and Governance 
 
Streetscene and 
Regulatory Services 

S Ahmed, U Patel, C Sinclair 
 
R Masih 

 
In Attendance:  

 
Applicant, Applicant’s Counsel, Head of Safety, Security & 
Licensing (McDonalds) 
 
Interested Parties 

 
Public Business 
 
1. Appointment of Chair  

 
RESOLVED that Councillor L Bigham be appointed as Chair for the hearing.  
 

2. Apologies  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

3. Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4. Application for a Premises Licence Application under the Licensing Act 2003  
 
The Sub-Committee considered an application for a Premises Licence in respect 
of McDonalds, 275 London Road, Coventry. The application was for a Late Night 
Refreshment Licence from Monday to Sunday from 23:00-05:00. 
 
Six representations objecting to the application had been received from interested 
persons, on the basis that should the application be granted, it could undermine 
the licensing objectives of Prevention of Crime and Disorder and the Prevention of 
Public Nuisance.  
 
None of the Responsible Authorities had objected to the application. 
 

Page 3



 

 
– 2 – 

 

The Licensing Officer gave a brief summary of the application and confirmed that 
all licensing formalities had been complied with. 
 
The Applicant had voluntarily added the following condition which has been 
agreed with the Police:  
 

“The premises CCTV digital recording system will have a minimum of 28 
days recording capability and will be in operation whenever the premises 
are open for a licensable activity. At least on member of staff, fully trained to 
operate the CCTV shall be on duty at all times. All CCTV recordings shall 
be made available to the Responsible Authorities within 48 hours of a 
request”.  

 
The applicant has also added the following conditions to the operating schedule, 
attached as Appendix 1: 
 

“Litter 
 

McDonalds were the first company in our sector to introduce litter patrols in 
the early 1980s. McDonalds is committed to carry out litter patrols collecting 
both McDonalds packaging and any other litter that had been carelessly 
discarded. We are happy to act on recommendations from the 
Environmental Health Officer should they feel that we should extend our 
patrol to a nearby area, as far as this is reasonably practicable. 

 
All of McDonalds packaging displays the “Bin it” symbol to encourage our 
customers to deal with their waste responsibly. Further details regarding 
McDonalds commitment to reducing waste and litter nuisance can be found 
at the “Our World” section of the McDonalds website. 

 
Noise 

 
Where it is practicable to do so we are content to put measures in place to 
limit noise. All McDonalds restaurant doors are self closing, and we try to 
encourage our customers to be considerable to our neighbours and to limit 
noise both when ordering their food and on leaving the local area”.  

 
At the start of the hearing, Counsel for the Applicant objected to the involvement of 
the witnesses on behalf of some the Interested Persons on the basis that such 
witnesses were not mentioned at the time of the submission of the original 
objections. 
 
Regulation 8 (2) of the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 states: 
 
 “In a case where a party wishes any other person (other than the person he 
intend to represent him at the hearing) to appear at the hearing, the notice referred 
to in paragraph (1) shall contain a request for permission for such other person to 
appear at the hearing accompanied by details of the name of that person and a 
brief description of the point or points on which that person may be able to assist 
the authority in relation to the application, representations or notice of the party 
making the request”.  
 

Page 4



 

 
– 3 – 

 

The Sub-Committee having had their attention drawn to this point of law, 
confirmed who could speak at the meeting. Those who were allowed to speak 
were reminded to keep their comments in line with their original representations.  
 
Counsel for the Applicant indicated that the application was for the provision of 
Late Night Refreshment submitted by a leading businessman in respect of a 
premises which had been operating since 8 March 2023. Counsel confirmed that a 
copy of the Planning Inspectorate’s decision was provided in support of the 
application and referred to section 182 Guidance which stated that planning and 
licensing regimes are separate but related. He added that as the Planning 
Inspectorate had dismissed traffic concerns, the Sub-Committee were reminded to 
do the same.  
 
Counsel stated that the Sub-Committee must make a decision based on licensing 
law and not on gut feelings. He referred to the Thwaites case whereby the Sub-
Committee cannot rely on fear or fantasy. Counsel further stated that the weight of 
evidence that Sub-Committee would require to reject the application would have to 
be substantial as none of the Responsible Authorities had objected.  
 
Counsel explained that he found it difficult to address the objections raised by the 
Interested Persons as they were merely a list and provided no context. Counsel 
stated that the Applicant is an experienced and recognised operator and invited 
the Sub-Committee to grant the application as requested.  
 
In response to questions asked by the Sub-Committee, Counsel explained that 
litter picking is undertaken between sunrise and sunset and that the Applicant had 
met with local residents who pick litter but was unaware of the Whitley Wombles, a 
local litter picking residents group.  
 
In response to questions about staff training and security, Counsel explained that 
every staff member had security training as per their commitment to keep staff, 
patrons and local residents safe. A ‘staffsafe’ system is in operation should any 
issues arise. He further explained the measures in place such as CCTV cameras, 
the electronic ordering stations to minimise interaction and classical music late at 
night to discourage patrons from spending too much time at the premises. 
 
Counsel further explained that there were staff manuals that dealt with all manner 
of incidences, including how to deal with vulnerable people and young children 
aged 17 and under. Counsel added that staff would undertake training with the 
police on what things to look out for and who to report it to.     
 
The Sub-Committee then heard representations made on and behalf of Interested 
Persons who had objected to the application. They presented their case which 
focused on the litter patrols, the contradiction of how far the litter patrols extended 
and the impact of litter on wildlife on the area.  
 
They explained that the photos they had submitted as evidence were collected 
over a period of 13 days of business which showed litter strewn in various 
locations. They stated that if the late night hours were to be granted, there would 
be an increase in litter in the area and anti-social behaviour and noise nuisance 
would also increase.  
 

Page 5



 

 
– 4 – 

 

Councillor R Bailey, a Cheylesmore Ward Councillor, who was permitted to speak 
as a witness on behalf of an objector stated that the increase in litter will have a 
detrimental impact on the area. He expressed disappointment that the Applicant 
had not made contact with the Whitley Wombles as working together would be 
beneficial for the business and the community. In addition, Councillor Bailey 
indicated that the lighting would cause a nuisance late at night. However, Counsel 
for the Applicant interjected and stated that reference to light was not mentioned in 
the original submissions, therefore, it was not admissible. 
 
In summing up, the Interested Persons stated that the extension of hours were 
wholly undesirable and not required given that there are two other McDonalds 
which operate 24/7 within a 15 minute drive. They invited the Sub-Committee to 
reject the application.  
 
In summing up, Counsel for the Applicant indicated that under Section 182 
Guidance, need and economic factors are not relevant considerations. He added 
that the Planning Inspectorate had adjudicated that the impact of noise, light and 
smell would be negligible. In respect of crime and disorder, the police did not raise 
any concerns. In relation to concerns over litter, Counsel referred to guidance 
which stated that the Applicant was not responsible for litter beyond the immediate 
area surrounding the premises. Furthermore, he stated that an individual who 
engages is anti social behaviour is accountable in his own right.  
 
Counsel indicated that McDonalds had a commitment to environmental safeguards 
such that packaging is recyclable and would eventually break down.   
 
In reaching their decision, the Sub-Committee had regard to both national 
guidance and the Council’s own Policy. The Sub-Committee considered the 
application on its own merits and due consideration was given to the evidence 
available before them including the objections raised.  
 
The Sub-Committee acknowledged the concerns raised about littering and noise, 
however, in accordance with the High Court’s decision in R (on application of 
Daniel Thwaites plc) v Wirral Magistrates’ Court and Others (2008) EWHC 838 
(Admin), the Sub-Committee attached the appropriate weight to the fact that none 
of the Responsible Authorities, who are to be considered experts in their individual 
fields, had objected to the application.  
 
RESOLVED that the application for a Premises Licence be granted in respect 
of McDonalds, 275 London Road, subject to the voluntary conditions already 
put forward by the Applicant.  
 
 

5. Any Other Business  
 
There were no other items of business. 
 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 1.50 pm)  

  

Page 6



 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Licensing and Regulatory Sub-Committee (Hearing) 

held at 10.00 am on Wednesday, 29 March 2023 
 

Present:  

Members: Councillor L Bigham (Chair) 

 Councillor R Lakha 
Councillor A Masih 
 

 
Employees Present:  

Law and Governance 
 
Streetscene and 
Regulatory Services 

U Patel, T Robinson, A Wright 
 
R Masih 
 

 
In Attendance:  

 
Applicant, Applicant’s Representative, Designated Premises 
Supervisor 

 
Public Business 
 
1. Appointment of Chair  

 
RESOLVED that Councillor L Bigham be appointed as Chair for the hearing. 
 

2. Apologies  
 
There were no apologies. 
 

3. Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4. Application to vary a Premises Licence under the Licensing Act 2003  
 
The Sub-Committee considered an application to vary the Premises Licence in 
respect of Quids Inn (First Floor), 117-118 Gosford Street, Coventry. The 
application requested an extension of the hours for all current licensable activities 
(sale/supply of alcohol, regulated entertainment and late-night refreshment) by two 
hours from 2.00am to 4.00am. The application also requested the addition of live 
music until 4.00am. 
 
One representation had been received from an Other Person objecting to the 
application in the grounds that the extension of hours would undermine the 
licensing objective of the Prevention of Public Nuisance.  
 
None of the Responsible Authorities had objected to the application.  
 
The Licensing Officer presented a summary of the application and confirmed that 
all application formalities had been complied with.  

Page 7



 

 
– 2 – 

 

 
The Applicant was invited to present his case. His Representative explained that 
both the upper and lower floor of the premises are run by the same business, 
however they have separate Premises Licences. The ground floor Premises 
Licence has a terminal hour of 4.00am, whereas the first floor Premises Licence 
has a terminal hour of 2.00am. The application proposed to bring the two 
Premises Licences in line with each other and was therefore not a substantial 
change. The applicant’s representative explained that it can be confusing for the 
customer when the first floor needs to close early but the ground floor can remain 
trading.  
 
In response to the representation submitted by the resident, the Applicant’s 
Representative explained that Planning Permission had been granted in 1994 for 
the premises to be a nightclub. The resident moved in some 11 years later, in 
2005, and subsequently made the decision to convert a storage area into a flat, in 
the knowledge that the premises next door was operating as a late night venue. 
He further purported that mediation had been offered to the resident during the 
application process, but that he had refused. In addition, the Applicant wished to 
commission a sound report to establish the noise levels through the party wall, but 
the resident had refused access to the engineer to allow this to take place.  
 
In his representation, it was noted that the resident had made complaints about 
the noise on a number of occasions, however the Representative explained that 
this has never been through the right channels and despite being told that he 
should complain to Environmental Health, this has never been done. The Sub 
Committee noted that Environmental Health had not made any representations 
regarding the application.  
 
Finally, the representative stated that the Applicant was keen to work with the 
resident and had offered to contribute to the cost of insulation and/or double 
glazing to make his living arrangements as comfortable as possible.  
 
In response to questions asked by the Sub Committee with regard to the 
numerous text messages sent by the resident to the premises complaining about 
the noise, the Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) stated that she has tried to 
maintain a good relationship with the resident and made her number available so 
he could contact her at any time with any issues. She explained that he has sent 
texts on a number of occasions, and she has always responded immediately, 
sometimes by turning the juke box volume down or by explaining that the noise 
was coming from a different premises. She further explained that the premises had 
been visited by Licensing Officers who were satisfied with the measures being 
taken and again, reiterated to the resident that if he had an issue with noise he 
should call the Environmental Health team so that they could assess the noise 
levels when it is actually occurring.  
 
The Sub Committee asked the Licensing Officer if she could corroborate the DPS’ 
account. The Licensing Officer confirmed that the Licensing team had completed 
several visits to the premises and asked for the involvement of Environmental 
Health, who again stated that they remain unable to do anything without a 
complaint from the resident at the time the noise is allegedly occurring. 
 

Page 8



 

 
– 3 – 

 

The Sub Committee questioned whether the premises would be holding darts or 
pool competitions as this was noted in the application, but the Applicant explained 
that this had been brought over from the existing Licence and to date, no 
competition has been held there. Finally, the Sub Committee asked for clarification 
on how alcohol is served outside. The Applicant explained that the alcohol is 
purchased at a bar inside but can be taken outside for consumption in a smoking 
area.  
 
The resident did not attend the Hearing, and therefore he was unable to present a 
case or answer any questions.  
 
In summing up, the Applicant’s Representative reiterated that the Applicant was 
willing to work with the resident in order to make his living arrangements as 
comfortable as possible. He argued that the Applicant and the DPS were 
responsible people who understand they have a resident living next door, however 
there has been no willingness on his part to mediate or compromise. He asked 
that the application be granted.  
 
In reaching its decision, the Sub Committee had regard to both national guidance 
and the Council’s own policy. 
 
In accordance with the High Court’s decision in Daniel Thwaite plc v Wirral 
Magistrates Court, the Sub Committee attached the appropriate weight to the fact 
that none of the responsible authorities had objected. 
 
The Sub-Committee considered that the Applicant had demonstrated a willingness 
to take steps to prevent, so far as was possible, problems arising at or from the 
premises that may undermine the Licensing Objectives. 
 
The Sub Committee was satisfied that the Applicant had taken the concerns of the 
resident into account and would continue to do so. 
 
RESOLVED that the application to vary the Premises Licence in respect of 
Quids Inn (First Floor) be granted.   
 
 

5. Any Other Business  
 
There were no other items of business.  
 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 10.40 am)  

  

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 11

Agenda Item 7.1
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 17

Agenda Item 7.2
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 29

Agenda Item 7.3
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	07 - 27 March 2023 - final
	08 - 29 March 2023 - final

	7.1 Application for the Grant of a Private Hire Driver's License
	7.2 Application for the Grant of a Private Hire Driver's Licence
	7.3 Application for the Grant of a Hackney Carriage Driver's Licence

